IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-529

L.T. CASE NO. 4D07-3420

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

### MARK BARROW,

Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL MCCOLLUM

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JAMES J. CARNEY Sr. Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 475246

DANIEL P. HYNDMAN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0814113 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Petitioner

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the prosecution and Respondent was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. Petitioner was the Appellee, and Respondent was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal ("Fourth District").

The parties will be referenced as they appear before this Court. The Petitioner may also be referenced as the "State", and the Respondent may also be referenced as "Barrow".

References to the record on appeal will be by "R'', followed by the page number(s) of the record.

References to the trial transcript will be by "T", followed by the page number(s) of the transcript.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

"Mark Barrow was convicted of the first degree murder of Rae Michelle Tener, whose body was never found." <u>Barrow v. State</u>, 27 So. 3d 211, 213 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2010). There were no witnesses to the murder, nor did any witness observe any violence between the Respondent and the victim on the night of her disappearance. Id.

In August of 2004, the victim lived in a trailer home with her teenaged son, Zachary. She worked as a housekeeper. The Respondent lived in the same trailer park as the victim. Before going to bed, Zachary saw the victim and the Respondent in the victim's trailer. The Respondent had not been in the trailer before. When Zachary awoke the next morning, his mother was gone. The Respondent was in his own trailer, lying down. Zachary saw the type of cigarettes that his mother smoked on the ground outside the Respondent's trailer. (T 429-451)

The victim was 39 years old at the time of her death. She was working for "Maid in the U.S.A." She was less than 5 feet tall and weighed about 100 to 105 pounds. She was reported missing on August 29, 2004. All of her belongings were still in her trailer. Her bedroom was in disarray, which was unusual. Her driver's license was found in some clothing she had worn. (T 454-464)

On the evening of August 24, 2004, some people were playing "quarters" (a drinking game) in the Respondent's trailer. Later, the only people who were remaining in the trailer were the

Respondent and the victim. After that night, no one saw the victim again. (T 471-478, 501-509)

The Respondent and the victim were last seen in the Respondent's trailer that night at about 11:00 P.M. They were part of a group that had been playing a drinking game and "doing weed." Both the Respondent and the victim appeared to be "buzzed." <u>Id</u>. at 214.

At trial, Peggy LaSalle, who knew the victim since the eighth grade, and who was the Respondent's girlfriend at the time, testified that the day after the victim's disappearance the Respondent was not acting "normal" and seemed to be angry. She also noticed that there was a stench in the Respondent's van which had not been there before. When LaSalle asked the Respondent what was wrong, he started to cry and punch the steering wheel. <u>Id</u>. (T 526-534)

Several days later, after detectives interviewed the Respondent about the victim, LaSalle found the victim's keys in the Respondent's van. Sometime later, she smelled the same stench that she had smelled earlier; it emanated from a brown paper bag which contained a pair of jeans which were covered with blood. LaSalle then confronted the Respondent with this discovery. <u>Id</u>.

Ultimately the Respondent told LaSalle that he had killed the victim. He told her that he physically threw the victim out of his trailer after she made a sexual advance towards him. The victim

hit her head and was bleeding. After she threatened to go to the police, the Respondent "snapped"; he picked up the victim and hit her head on a rock. He then put her body in a trash bag and put the bag on the passenger his van which he drove to some water. He then struck the victim with a sledge hammer, placed a "plastic thing" around her neck, put his foot on the victim's shoulder and broke her neck. He threw the victim's body into the water. On his way back home, the Respondent removed his clothes and threw them out the window. He wiped blood off the passenger seat of his van with a towel. Id. (T 534-540)

At trial, the State offered expert testimony that blood found in the Respondent's van, including blood found on the passenger's seat, had come from the victim. <u>Id</u>. at 215. (T 741-743, 762-774)

The Respondent provided two recorded statements to law enforcement which were both played at trial: in the first statement he told the detectives he did not like the victim and called her "a whore"; he said that on the night of the victim's disappearance, she had been in his trailer for two minutes looking for LaSalle; in his second statement he described the party at his trailer and said that the victim was not at the party but that she had come over to his trailer twice that evening after the party had broken up at about 1:30 A.M.; once the victim was there to get her son, and once she was there looking for LaSalle; she left after 2 minutes, after the Respondent told her LaSalle was in rehab; the Respondent denied

having a conversation with LaSalle about the victim. Id.

At trial, the Respondent rested his case without presenting evidence or testimony. (T 1076)

Shortly after deliberations began, the jury sent out a question asking for "all the transcripts of the witnesses' testimonies, Zack, Shannon, Peggy, Mark Jones, Mark Barrow." The trial court (Judge Labarga) then advised the parties that because there were no transcripts, his response to the question would be that "there are no transcripts." The prosecutor suggested that the trial judge could tell the jury they could request read backs, and the court responded that he does not do read backs. Id.

The trial court then advised the parties of case law which held that read backs were within the broad discretion of the trial court. He also held that read backs would be impractical in the instant case. The trial judge denied the Respondent's request to instruct the jury that they could request read backs and, instead, sent a response advising the jury that: "There are no transcripts available for your review. Please rely on the evidence presented during the proceedings." Id. at 216.

Hours later, the jury found the Respondent guilty of first degree murder. <u>Id</u>.

On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal ("Fourth District") reversed for a new trial, finding that "the trial judge abused his discretion by responding to the jury's question about

the availability of transcripts in the negative, without advising the jury about the potential for read backs of witnesses' testimony, ignoring the request of both the state and defense." <u>Id</u>. at 213.

The Fourth District acknowledged that in <u>Francis v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 110, 113 (Fla. 2001), this Court recognized that "courts have found no abuse of discretion even where the trial judge has, without much consideration, entirely rejected the jury's request for a read back." <u>Id</u>. at 216. However, citing the Fifth District's decision in <u>Roper v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1992), in addition to other decisions, the Fourth District noted that "several Florida cases have found an abuse of judicial discretion when a trial court responds to a jury question about trial testimony or transcripts *without* letting the jurors know that they may ask for testimony to be read back to them." Id. at 216-217.

Following <u>Roper</u>, as well as its decision in <u>Avila v. State</u>, 781 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001), the Fourth District held that the trial judge - - by telling the jury that transcripts were not available, and to rely on the evidence - - effectively negated Rule 3.410 which addresses a jury's request for read backs and allows a trial court to order read backs. Id. at 217-218.

The Fourth District also held that the error in this case was not harmless. Id. at 219.

However, the Fourth District acknowledged that the Third

District reached a different result in <u>Hazuri v. State</u>, 23 So. 3d 857 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), and certified conflict with that decision. Barrow, 27 So. 3d at 218.

On a remaining issue, the Fourth District found that the State had properly established corpus delicti so that LaSalle's testimony of the Respondent's confession was properly admitted in to evidence. Id. at 219-220.

The Petitioner then timely invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Fla. R. App. P., and Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

This Court accepted jurisdiction, postponed a decision on oral argument, and ordered briefs on the merits.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the decision of the Fourth District granting a new trial, and resolve conflict in favor of the decision of the Third District in <u>Hazuri v. State</u>. When the jury asked to see transcripts of several witnesses' testimony, the trial court properly responded by advising the jury that transcripts were not available and that they should rely upon the evidence. Rule 3.410 does not impose a burden upon trial courts to inform a jury that read backs may be requested. Furthermore, as this Court has held, such requests may be denied at the discretion of the trial court without much consideration.

#### ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRONEOUSLY IMPOSED A BURDEN ON TRIAL COURTS TO INFORM JURIES THAT THEY MAY REQUEST READ BACKS OF TESTIMONY (ALTHOUGH A TRIAL COURT MAY DENY SUCH REQUESTS WITHOUT MUCH CONSIDERATION); THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT SHOULD BE REVERSED; CONFLICT SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION IN HAZURI

In the instant case, the Fourth District concluded that the trial court abused his discretion by advising the jury that transcripts were not available, without also informing them that they could request read backs of the witnesses' testimony. <u>Barrow</u>, 27 So. 3d at 213. The Fourth District correctly certified conflict with the Third District's decision in <u>Hazuri</u>. <u>Barrow</u>, 27 So. 3d at 218. It is the Petitioner's position that the instant decision is in error. In this case, the trial court's statement to the jury that transcripts were not available was both factually correct and in accordance with Rule 3.410, Fla. R. Crim. P. This Rule, by its plain language, imposes no obligation upon a trial court to inform a jury that they may request read backs:

## Rule 3.410 Jury Request to Review Evidence or for Additional Instructions

After the jurors have retired to consider their verdict, if they request additional instructions or to have any testimony read to them they shall be conducted into the courtroom by the officer who has them in charge and the court may give them the additional instructions or may order the testimony read to them. The instructions shall be given and the testimony read only after notice to the prosecuting attorney and to counsel for the defendant.

However, in the instant decision, the Fourth District has - in effect - imposed such an obligation. According to this decision, accurately informing a jury that transcripts are unavailable is insufficient; they must now also be informed that read backs may be requested. Barrow, 27 So. 3d at 213, 216-217. The Petitioner respectfully submits that this holding is erroneous.

In <u>Hazuri</u>, the trial court was faced with an essentially identical situation as the trial court in the instant case. The <u>Hazuri</u> jury, like the jury in this case, requested trial transcripts. <u>Id</u>. at 858. After the trial court advised the parties that he was going to inform the jury that transcripts were not available, and that they should rely on their collective recollection, defense counsel asked the trial court to inform the jury that they were allowed to have a portion of the trial read back to them. <u>Id</u>. The trial court declined and, in response to counsel's suggestion that the jury had a "right" to have part of transcripts read to them, the trial court noted that the jury has no such "right". <u>Id</u>. Defense counsel placed an objection on the record. <u>Id</u>.

The <u>Hazuri</u> jury, like the jury in the instant case, never requested a read back. <u>Id</u>. The <u>Hazuri</u> Court concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by declining to inform the jury that they could request read backs. Id. at 857. Since

transcripts were not available, and the jury did not have a right to transcripts, the trial court properly advised the jury that must rely on their recollection of the evidence. Id. at 859.

Indeed, this is what Judge Labarga did in the instant case; he accurately advised the jury that: "There are no transcripts for your review. Please rely on the evidence presented during the proceedings." Barrow, 27 So. 3d at 216. The trial court also advised the parties that he did not do read backs. Id. at 215. However, this statement does change the analysis. Rule 3.410 imposes no obligation upon a trial court to provide read backs, or even to consider requests for read backs. As this Court has recognized: "it is well established that trial judges have broad discretion in deciding whether to read back testimony . . . Additionally, courts have found no abuse of discretion even where the trial judge has, without much consideration, entirely rejected the jury's request for a read back . . . " Francis v. State, 808 So. 2d 110, 130 (Fla. 2001)(internal citations omitted). A number of other decisions have recognized a trial court's broad discretion on the question of allowing read backs. See e.g., State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000); Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1994); Coleman v. State, 610 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1992); McKee v. State, 712 So. 2d 837 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998); Miller v. State, 605 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992); DeCastro v. State, 360 So. 2d 474 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). Judge Labarga was well aware of this discretion and,

in fact, cited these decisions in open court (T 1244-1245). <u>See</u> <u>also</u>, <u>Hendricks v. State</u>, 34 So. 3d 819, 828-829 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2009).

The Fourth District in the instant decision has recognized this wide discretion. <u>Barrow</u>, 27 So. 3d at 216. However, relying on cases which are readily distinguishable from the instant case, the Fourth District found an abuse of discretion because of the trial court's failure to advise the jury that they could request read backs. Id. at 217.

In <u>Roper v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1992), the jury asked the "see" the cross-examination of the victim. In response, the trial court told the jury that it would not be possible for them to see this testimony because the court reporter transcribed the trial using symbols which could not be read. <u>Id</u>. at 534. The Fifth District concluded that this response was "a semantic shell game" which would have lead the jury to conclude that they were unable to request a read back under Rule 3.410. Id. at 535.

In <u>Avila v. State</u>, 781 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001), the Fourth District concluded that the trial court's response to the jury's request to review a timetable of events presented through the testimony of several witnesses was an abuse of discretion because the response mislead the jury as to the possibility of a read back. <u>Id</u>. at 414-416. The trial court informed the jury that there were "no printed transcripts" and that they should rely on

their own recollection. Id. at 415.

Unlike the trial court in <u>Roper</u>, Judge Labarga did not engage in "a semantic shell game" with the jury. The jury asked a direct question, and they received a direct (and accurate) answer by the court. <u>Avila</u> is somewhat closer, but still quite different from the instant case.

Here, Judge Labarga did nothing to indicate that the jury was prohibited from requesting transcripts; although under this Court's Francis decision and other decisions cited by the trial court, such a request could be denied with little consideration. The distinction between Avila and the instant case is that the instant jury specifically requested transcripts, which were, of course, unavailable. In Avila, it was "evident" that the jury was seeking read back of testimony. Id. at 414. Consequently, it could be argued that the Avila judge's response that "we have no such transcripts" - when transcripts were not specifically requested could have mislead the jury into believing that a read back was prohibited. Id. at 415. C.f., Hendricks, 34 So. 3d at 829 ("The basis of the Hazuri court's distinction of Avila was that in Avila the jury had requested a read-back, while in Hazuri, it had requested to view the transcripts . . .").

The jury was not similarly mislead in the instant case. Again, they specifically requested "transcripts"; the precise request was: "Can we get all the transcripts of the witnesses'

testimonies, Zack, Shannon, Peggy, Mark Jones, Mark Barrow." (T 1243) They asked for transcripts and were correctly advised that that none were available. Judge Labarga said nothing to the jury which would have mislead them into believing that they were unable to actually request "read backs" if that is what they wanted.

Based on Judge Labarga's comments, it appears that any such request would have been denied as impractical (T 1245-1246). However, it is of utmost significance that the Respondent would have been completely unable to demonstrate under <u>Francis</u> (and the other authority cited above) that a refusal to read back testimony, if asked, would have constituted an abuse of discretion. The refusal of any such request should have been affirmed as within the sound of the discretion of the trial court. The non-existent transcripts which the jury requested accounted for a large amount of the trial testimony (T 143, 1245).

In the instant decision, the Fourth District has reversed the Respondent's conviction for first degree murder based upon a response from the trial court which was completely accurate. Since Rule 3.410 clearly imposes no burden upon the trial court to inform the jury that they may request a read back, reversal on that basis was likewise erroneous. For the reasons argued above, the decision of the Fourth District reversing and remanding for a new trial should be quashed by this Court and conflict resolved in favor of the Third District's decision in Hazuri.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court reverse the instant decision of the Fourth District granting a new trial and resolve conflict in favor of the Third District's decision in Hazuri.