#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner, CASE NO.: SC10-529

L.T. CASE NO. 4D07-3420

v.

MARK BARROW, Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LEVINE & SUSANECK, P.A.

FREDRICK R. SUSANECK, ESQ.
DONNA P. LEVINE, ESQ.
Florida Bar Number 332763
324 Datura Street, Suite 145
West Palm Beach, Fl 33401
Phone (561) 820-8782
Fax (561) 820-8099
Counsel for Respondent

#

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

And, last, respondent respectfully suggests that to overturn this decision would be to put expedience over justice.

# ISSUE I (RESTATED)

THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S REVERSAL OF
RESPONDENT'S CONVICTION WAS PROPER
WHERE THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION,
EFFECTIVELY NEGATING AN OPTION
ALLOWED TO THE JURY IN ITS RESPONSIBILITY
TO REACH A FULL AND CONSIDERED DECISION;
THE CONFLICT CERTIFIED WITH THE THIRD DISTRICT
IN HAZURI SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR
OF THIS FOURTH DISTRICT DECISION

This Court's discretionary jurisdiction grants it the power to resolve decisional conflicts in the body of the law.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed respondent's conviction for first degree murder, holding that "the trial judge abused his discretion by responding to the jury's question about the availability of transcripts in the negative, without advising the jury about the potential for read backs of witnesses' testimony, ignoring the request of both the state and defense. We also note that the trial judge's apparent adoption of an ad hoc rule prohibiting read backs amounted to a failure to exercise the discretion granted to trial judges in this area". Barrow v. State, 27 So. 3d 211 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010).

This issue addresses only that portion of the Fourth District's decision referenced in the title of the issue. The second basis for the Fourth District's decision shall be addressed separately.

Respondent, Mark Barrow, had been convicted of first degree murder in a case fraught with inconsistent testimony, where the physical evidence was slight and susceptible of innocent explanation, and where there was no body. No witness observed a murder, nor indeed any violence between respondent and Rae Michelle Tener, the named victim, on the night she disappeared. Indeed, Ms. Tener had a history of disappearing for days at a time, leaving her young son alone.

Within ten (10) minutes of the jury's commencement of its deliberations, in this first degree murder trial with no lesser included offenses, the jury sent out a question, asking for transcripts of various witnesses' testimony (t. 1243); <u>Barrow</u>, 27 So. 3d at 213.

The trial judge immediately played semantics, or "niggling nitpicking" (see <u>Hazuri v. State</u>, 23 So. 3d 857, 861 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2009, Cope, J., dissenting opinion) with the jury's request, ignoring or overlooking the more wholistic situation that the jury was trying to do its job, in compliance with the very

considerations set out to it, and was making a serious and considered request of the trial court. Among the standard instructions given to the jury prior to commencing deliberations is the admonition:

It is your solemn responsibility to determine if the State has proven its accusation beyond a reasonable doubt against Mark Barrow.
Fla. Standard Jury Instructions 2.1.

The jury was taking its solemn responsibility seriously in this most grave of charges. The trial judge, however, was not. He clearly recognized the actual essence of the jury's question, and also clearly grasped what the jury was really requesting (t. 1243 et seq.), <a href="Barrow">Barrow</a> at 213, 216. The trial judge also clearly knew that he could, without much consideration, although not without any consideration, reject a jury's request for a read back. However, the trial judge further decided, intentionally and over the objection of both the state and the defense, not to even let the jury know that they had the right to ask for testimony to be read back to them (t. 1243 et seq.); <a href="Barrow">Barrow</a> at 216.

Although petitioner agrees that the trial court's statements were correct on the denotation or literal meaning of the jury's request, they were not essentially, substantively,

meaningfully, nor connotationally correct as to the crux or the core of the jury's request. The trial judge's remarks and decision were a form of "gotcha", which should have no place in our system of jurisprudence; and particularly not when coming from the presiding official. The jury was requesting to be made more knowledgeable of the actual testimony in this first degree murder criminal case. A request that the jury made pursuant to its right to do so.

The trial judge, the Fourth District held, abused his discretion by responding to the jury's question about the availability of transcripts in the negative, without advising read backs of witnesses' the jury of the potential for testimony. With this holding, the Fourth District placed its position contrary to the majority decision in <a href="Hazuri v.">Hazuri v.</a> State, 23 So. 3d 857 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2009). Hazuri held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in advising the jury that it could not be given copies of transcripts and that it had to rely on its own recollection of the testimony, without advising them that portions of the record could be read to them, as the jury did not ask for a "read back". Id at 858. trial judge's problem in our case with the jury's request appeared also to relate to its timing; i.e. "within the first ten minutes" of commencing their deliberation. Barrow at 216.

The testimony in this trial, however, was sufficiently confused and inconsistent that the jury could well have wished to hear again from the witnesses it requested and the timing of its request was the jury's concern and province: it was not the trial judge's power nor prerogative to undermine the jury's role. Barrow at 213, 219. This was a charge of first degree murder. And regardless of the charge, all juries are charged to deliberate carefully and with full consideration of the gravamen of their weighty responsibility.

The trial judge need not have made a decision as to whether to grant a read back at this point; he merely should have let the jury know that this tool was available to them. And even more so, as both sides had requested that he inform the jury that they could ask for a read back.

The Fourth District looked to <u>Roper</u>, <u>Avila</u>, and the dissenting opinion in <u>Hazuri</u> as support for its decision. <u>Roper v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 533 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1992)(finding error in the judge's response of "rely upon collective recollections and remembrance as to what each of the witnesses testified to in order to render your verdict" to the jury question asking to see the victim's cross-examination testimony, which may well have led the jury to conclude that their only recourse was to rely

upon their collective recollections and remembrances as to the cross-examination of the witness); <u>Avila v. State</u>, 781 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001)(finding that the trial judge abused his discretion by failing to tell the jury about the potential availability of a read back). Avila further held:

While the trial court has discretion to deny a jury's request to read back testimony, it may not mislead the jury into thinking that a readback is prohibited. In this case, the jury clearly sought a readback of specific testimony. The court, however, without mentioning that a method of readback was available, informed the jury that there were no transcripts and that the jury members should rely upon their collective recollection. Because such a statement may have confused the jury as to whether a of readback testimony permissible, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion.

Id at 415-416.

The Fourth District also cited to <u>Rigdon</u>, <u>Rigdon v. State</u>, 621 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993). <u>Rigdon</u> found reversible error in the instruction that any request for a read back would be refused, because the trial judge's comments may reasonably have conveyed to the jurors that to ask for re-reading of testimony would be futile or was prohibited. The Fourth District believed that these cases "are more in harmony with

Florida's view of a jury's role in a criminal trial" than the decision in Hazuri. Barrow at 218.

If we truly want and intend that our jurisprudential system be one in which the:

jury has a perfect right to return to the court room at any time and ask questions that are calculated to shed light on the controversy or that will in any way assist it or the court in developing the truth of the controversy.

Sutton v. State, 51 So. 2d
725 (Fla. 1951),

then the decision of the Fourth District in this cause should be affirmed, and <u>Hazuri</u> should not stand. If we truly want and intend that our jurisprudential system be one in which our juries make careful and considered deliberations, then the conflict between the districts should be resolved in favor of the decision of the Fourth District. <u>Barrow</u> should be affirmed.

As the Fourth District further held in this cause,

part of a trial judge's role is to forthrightly make the jury aware of those tools available under the rules of criminal procedure that will assist the jury in arriving at its decision. The judge's role is to facilitate careful deliberation. Deference should be accorded to a jury's request to more closely

examine the trial testimony. See LaMonte v. State, 145 So.2d 889, 892 (Fla.  $2^{nd}$  DCA 1962).

Barrow at 218.

Many states hold a similar in substance opinion of the role of the trial judge and of his or her responsibilities to the State v. Hebert, 455 A. 2d 925 (Me. 1983)(the justice's practice mandated that jurors guess at, rather than judge, the The court in Hebert further held that "the parties' interests are too substantial, the jurors' task is important, and the court's inconvenience is too slight in this justify a refusal of the reasonable request for rereading of a concise bit of testimony. In the absence of some weighty counterbalancing factor showing a clear danger substantial and unjustifiable prolongation of the proceeding or of prejudice to a party, we can not approve of any practice that promotes the risk of a jury finding facts without an adequate knowledge of the evidence".

Also see <u>State v. Spaulding</u>, 296 N.W. 2d 870 (Minn. 1980)(trial court abused its discretion by categorically refusing to honor any jury requests for rereading evidence). In <u>Spaulding</u> error was predicated where the trial judge refused to attempt to narrow the jury's request to specific parts of the testimony. The trial court forced the jury to decide the case

on the basis of "sketchy" memory of the evidence. The <u>Spaulding</u> court found the error to be "especially prejudicial" since the requested testimony was the testimony of the defendant, the witness who most clearly presented evidence supporting the claim of self defense. Under these circumstances, the <u>Spaulding</u> court held that even though the defendant failed to object at trial, the trial court committed prejudicial error by refusing the jury's request in such a close case.

And see <u>People v. Butler</u>, 47 Cal. App. 3d 273 (Cal. 3<sup>rd</sup> Dist. 1975)(the court reversed the judgment that convicted defendant because of the trial court's prejudicial error by refusing the jury's request to reread the testimony of 5 witnesses, which may have altered the outcome of the trial). The <u>Butler</u> court held that the trial judge is not delegated the right to determine the jury's wishes. The jurors had the right to be apprised of the evidence upon which they were sworn conscientiously to act. <u>Butler</u> further held that the rights of the jury could not be ignored at the whim of the trial judge or for the convenience of the judge and counsel particularly where, as in <u>Butler</u>, the outright refusal of the jury's request committed the jury to the questionable task of reaching its decisions on the basis of incomplete evidence imperfectly heard.

The <u>Butler</u> court went on to observe that, as in our case, the testimony of the requested witnesses went to the essence of the case. It found the trial judge's refusal to reread testimony to be a miscarriage of justice, holding:

it is equally applicable to cases acquittal where the or the conviction has resulted from some form of trial in which the essential rights the people of defendant were disregarded denied. The right of the accused in given case to a fair conducted substantially according to law, is at the same time the right of all inhabitants of the country to protection against procedure which might at some time illegally deprive them of life or liberty.

Id at 284-285.

These cases help to give further flavor and substance in support of the Fourth District decision that it was an abuse of discretion for the trial judge to have willfully refused to make the jury aware of tools available to it that would have assisted the jury in making its decision.

The jury is not taking a test. It need not work alone or without assistance; or be accused of cheating. The jury is entitled to be knowledgeable about what it can and may do in

order to reach an informed, not sketchy, decision based upon all, and not merely some, of the evidence presented.

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal that the trial judge abused his discretion in a manner that was not harmless, was not erroneous. It held that it could not say that the inability of the jury to more closely examine the conflicting evidence did not affect its verdict. It properly concluded that it could not find the error harmless. State v. Powell, 998 So. 2d 531 (Fla. 2008); State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The Fourth District's approach is more in harmony with our concept of the role of the jury than is the Third District's opinion in Hazuri.

This conflict decision should be resolved in favor of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The decision should be affirmed.

#### ISSUE II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
DID NOT ERR WHEN IT HELD THAT THE
TRIAL JUDGE'S APPARENT ADOPTION OF AN
AD HOC RULE PROHIBITING READ BACKS
AMOUNTED TO A FAILURE TO EXERCISE THE
DISCRETION GRANTED TO TRIAL JUDGES IN THIS AREA

This Court's discretionary jurisdiction grants it the power to resolve decisional conflicts in the body of the law.

Respondent respectfully suggests either that Barrow can be distinguished from Hazuri on this ground standing alone; and/or that this additional deficiency and failure by the trial judge bolsters and strengthens the decision of the Fourth District such that the decision should be upheld, if this Court were otherwise inclined to agree with the Third District. Even if this Court were to find, on the semantic basis, that Hazuri is valid, then the respondent asserts that the decision of the Fourth District should be affirmed, regardless, where the Fourth District further held that the trial judge failed to exercise the discretion granted to him in this area. The Fourth District held that the trial judge in this cause had apparently adopted an ad hoc rule that he prohibited read backs. Barrow at 213. This holding is fully supported by the trial court's statement

at trial made by him when the jury first made their request and the issue arose:

No, I don't do read backs. Okay. (t. 1243).

Such a position by the trial court rises to the threshold of failure to exercise his discretion, pursuant to case law, to the Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.410, and pursuant to the jury instruction that was adopted shortly after this trial took place, and which was in place during the course of this appeal, <u>Instruction 4.4</u> of Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases.

Both the state and the defense requested that the trial judge advise the jury that they could request a read back of testimony when the jury asked for transcripts of specific witnesses' testimony (t. 1243-1246, <u>Barrow</u> at 213). The trial judge responded to counsels that he didn't do read backs, and merely wrote the jury that there were no transcripts and to rely on their own recollection.

The law is well settled that a trial judge must exercise his discretion where discretion is provided. Refusal to do so is error. Boykin v. Garrison, 658 So. 2d 1090 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA

1995); rev. denied <u>Garrison v. Boykin</u>, 664 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1995); <u>Steinmann v. State</u>, 839 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003). The refusal deprives a party, as it did respondent herein, of a substantial right.

By returning the jury to the jury room to deliberate simply on the basis of what information it did have, the trial court minimized the role of the jury. The judge's response may very well have also minimized, in the minds of the jurors, the significance of the testimony they requested. And he further may have minimized the very concept of careful and well-reasoned deliberation, causing them to surmise - i.e. speculate! - about the very core and crux of the testimony, i.e., the facts, in this first degree murder trial. The trial judge's abuse of and/or failure to exercise his discretion may have led jurors to abandon and/or surrender their independent judgment to the collective group, and/or to those who said they had better memory. This serious error infringed on and vitiated the rights and responsibilities of each and every juror and the jury as a whole. Ιt impaired and harmed respondent's rights. Furthermore, and not to be minimized, in this case, the jury made this request, and both the state and defense requested that the trial court clarify for the jury, and advise them of the potential for a read back.

The conduct of the trial judge in this cause should not be found to have been error free or harmless. His refusal to exercise his discretion prejudiced respondent. Conflict with the Third District should be resolved in favor of the Fourth District and <u>Barrow</u>. As the Fourth District set out therein, citing to <u>Albert v. Miami Transit Co.</u>, 154 Fla. 186, 17 So. 2d 89, 90 (Fla. 1944)(citation omitted):

Judicial discretion is not unleashed power by which a judge may set at naught the rights of parties to a cause and define them as suits his will or the will of others who may seek to influence his judgment. Judicial discretion is a discretion guarded by the legal and moral conventions that mold the acceptable concept of right and justice. If this is not true, then judicial discretion, like equity, will depend on the length of the judge's foot, state of his temper, the intensity of his prejudice, perhaps his zeal to reward or punish a litigant. It takes more than a judicial robe woolsack and a dehumanize human characteristics that are rehumanized each biennium.

The decision in this case turned on the details. The details were many, and regularly conflicted with each other. The witnesses from the party in appellant's trailer were drunk or high on the night in issue. The State's main witness was not a strong witness. Barrow at 219.

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